FILED
Court of Appeals
Division III
State of Washington
5/30/2023 2:25 PM

FILED
SUPREME COURT
STATE OF WASHINGTON
5/30/2023
BY ERIN L. LENNON
CLERK

Supreme Court No. 102033-3
No. 38324-5-III

THE SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF
WASHINGTON

STATE OF WASHINGTON,

Respondent,
v.

D.G.A.,

Petitioner.

ON APPEAL FROM THE COURT OF APPEALS
DIVISION THREE

PETITION FOR REVIEW

KYLE BERTI
Attorney for Petitioner

LISE ELLNER
Attorney for Petitioner

LAW OFFICES OF LISE ELLNER
Post Office Box 2711
Vashon, WA 98070
(206) 930-1090
WSB #20955

A. IDENTITY OF PETITIONER

D.G.A., Petitioner here and Appellant below, asks this Court to accept review of the Court of Appeals decision terminating review designated in Part B of this petition pursuant to RAP 13.3 and RAP 13.4(b)(1), (3), and (4).

B. COURT OF APPEALS DECISION

The Court of Appeals, Division Three, in an opinion issued on March 16, 2023, reconsideration denied, April 27, 2023, dismissed D.G.A.'s appeal as untimely, and thereby terminating review of his case. Exhibit A.

C. ISSUE(S) PRESENTED FOR REVIEW

1. Criminal defendants in Washington are guaranteed the constitutional right to appeal in all cases. Defendants maintain this right even after a guilty plea. The State bears the burden of demonstrating the knowing, voluntary, and intelligent waiver of the right to appeal before an appeal can be dismissed as untimely. D.G.A. was not advised of his right to directly appeal after entry of

his guilty plea and both the Court of Appeals and the State of Washington concede nothing in the record explicitly demonstrates D.G.A. made a knowing, voluntary and intelligent waiver of his right to appeal. Does the Court of Appeals err when holding that an appeal may be dismissed as untimely when neither the State nor the record demonstrate D.G.A. made a knowing, voluntary and intelligent waiver of his constitutional right to appeal?

2. Defendants may waive their right to appeal but the waiver must be knowing, voluntary and intelligent. The state bears the burden to establish this waiver. D.G.A. pled guilty but was not advised he had the right to appeal unless the trial court imposed an exceptional sentence. Does the Court of Appeals err holding that a guilty plea on its own demonstrates a knowing, voluntary and intelligent waiver of the right to appeal a guilty plea when the defendant was not independently advised of his right to appeal, and in this case was misadvised as well?

D. STATEMENT OF THE CASE

In 2000, D.G.A. was charged with possession of stolen property in the first degree and trafficking in stolen property. During arraignment, D.G.A. was advised of charges, an order appointing counsel was entered, and D.G.A. was advised of his rights. CP 45. D.G.A.'s mother and father were present. Douglas Anderson was not present but was indicated on the preprinted minutes form. CP 45. Earl & Earl, Inc. P.S., was identified as the "The Grant County Public Defender" appointed to represent D.G.A.. CP 50.

On March 27, 2000, D.G.A. entered a plea of not guilty. CP 52. At the hearing, D.G.A. was represented by Douglas Anderson. CP 52.

On May 16, 2000, another hearing was held in which D.G.A. changed his plea to guilty. CP 58. Douglas Anderson represented D.G.A. at this hearing. CP 58. As part of the plea agreement, the State agreed to dismiss

Count 1, possession of stolen property. CP 58. In a personal statement, D.G.A. wrote, "I am entering an Alford Plea." CP 66.

More than 15 years later, D.G.A. filed a Personal Restraint Petition (PRP) which was dismissed at time barred. CP 93-6.

On July 15, 2021, D.G.A. filed a notice of appeal with this Court under the cause number in this case as well as under cause number 00-8-00222-8. In the notice of appeal, D.G.A. provided the following statement

[D.G.A.], Defendant Pro-Se, seeks Review by the Court of Appeals Division Three of the Judgment and Sentence, Circumstances under which the plea was entered and Direct Consequences of the plea, and all pre-trial Motions and order 1/22/1999.

CP 97.

A commissioner of Division Three ruled D.G.A. was not advised he had 30-days to appeal following the entry of his juvenile disposition and determined just cause to

enlarge the time to file a notice of appeal up to the date D.G.A. filed his notice of appeal. CP 111. The State moved to modify the commissioner's ruling challenging the commissioner's ruling enlarging time to file the notice of appeal.

Division Three granted the State's motion to modify the commissioner's ruling and dismissed D.G.A.'s appeal as untimely. Slip Opinion (OP) at 3-4.

Division Three, in addressing the merits of whether D.G.A. waived his right to appeal relied on *State v. Smith*, 134 Wn.2d 849, 953 P.2d 810 (1998), stating that because D.G.A.'s plea was knowing, intelligent, and voluntary, "[t]his creates a strong presumption that his plea was voluntary and that D.G.A. validly waived his right to appeal." OP at 6 (citing *Smith*, 134 Wn.2d at 852 (internal quotations omitted)). Division Three stated this was a rebuttal presumption and D.G.A. failed to meet his burden. OP at 6-7.

Division Three likened the facts in D.G.A.'s case to the facts in *State v. Cater*, 186 Wn. App. 384, 345 P.3d 843 (2015). OP at 6-7. The Court in D.G.A. stated that, in *Cater*, a presumption exists which requires the defendant to overcome several factors including the outcome of the plea, a reason for the time delay, explanation of why the defendant was not aware of the right to appeal, and there is a strong inference valid plea constitutes waiver of the right to appeal. OP at 7 (quoting *Cater*, 186 Wn. App. at 397). The Court granted the State's motion holding:

We find *Cater* persuasive and conclude that D.G.A. has failed to rebut the strong presumption that his plea was knowing, intelligent, and voluntary...

OP at 8.

This petition follows.

E. ARGUMENT

1. THE COURT OF APPEALS DECISION IS IN CONFLICT WITH DECISIONS OF THIS COURT AND ITS HOLDING CANNOT BE RECONCILED WITH THE CONSTITUTIONAL RIGHT TO APPEAL.

The Court of Appeals erred when it announced that under *Smith* and *Cater* a strong presumption exists that a defendant waives their right to appeal where the underlying guilty plea is facially valid. This Court holds there is no presumption of waiver in this context. *State v. Sweet*, 90 Wn.2d 282, 286, 581 P.2d 579 (1978); *State v. Kells*, 134 Wn.2d 309, 313, 949 P.2d 818 (1998); *State v. Cater*, 186 Wn. App. 384, 345 P.3d 843 (2015). Moreover, Division Three's interpretation of *Smith* and *Cater* are incorrect and irrelevant to D.G.A.'s case.

This Court must accept review under RAP 13.4(b)(1), (3), and (4) because Division Three's opinion cannot be reconciled with this Court's holdings and because interpretation of a fundamental constitutional right is paramount.

- a. The Court of Appeals erred holding D.G.A.'s appeal was untimely relying on an impermissible presumption.

The Washington State Constitution provides that defendants may “appeal in all cases.” *State v. Sweet*, 90 Wn.2d 282, 286, 581 P.2d 579 (1978) (quoting *State v. Schoel*, 54 Wn.2d 388, 341 P.2d 481 (1959)); *State v. Neff*, 163 Wn.2d 453, 459, 181 P.3d 819 (2008); Wash. Const. art. I, sec. 22. “The presence of the right to appeal in our state constitution convinces us it is to be accorded the highest respect by this court.” *Sweet*, 90 Wn.2d at 286.

There is no presumption of waiver in the constitutional right of appeal. *Id.* Defendants may waive their right to appeal but only when that waiver is knowing, intelligent, and voluntary. *State v. Smith*, 134 Wn.2d 849, 852, 953 P.2d 810 (1998). To be knowing, voluntary and intelligent, the defendant must have “a full understanding of the consequences.” *State v. Perkins*, 108 Wn.2d 212, 215, 737 P.2d 250 (1987). This means the defendant must

be accurately informed of the nature of the right to appeal before he or she can waive their right. *Neff*, 163 Wn.2d at 459. To show his understanding, the State must prove a defendant understood both his right to appeal and the effect of a waiver. *State v. Kells*, 134 Wn.2d 309, 314-15, 949 P.2d 818 (1998).

The Rules of Appellate Procedure (RAP) are interpreted liberally “to promote justice and facilitate the decision of cases on the merits.” RAP 1.2(a). Generally, under RAP 5.2(a) a notice of appeal must be filed within 30 days after entry of the order the aggrieved party wants reviewed. But, under RAP 18.8(b), the appellate court in “extraordinary circumstances and to prevent a gross miscarriage of justice” can “extend the time within which a party must file a notice of appeal.” *Also Kells*, 134 Wn.2d at 314 (quoting RAP 18.8(b)).

In the criminal context, RAP 18.8(b)’s policy consideration gives way to “a defendant’s constitutional

right to appeal.” *Kells*, 134 Wn.2d at 314 (citing *Sweet*, 90 Wn.2d 282). Therefore, “a criminal appeal may not be dismissed as untimely unless the State demonstrates that the defendant voluntarily, knowingly, and intelligently abandoned his appeal right.” *Kells*, 134 Wn.2d at 313 (citing *State v. Tomal*, 133 Wn.2d 985, 948 P.2d 833 (1997)).

Sweet, does not permit a presumption of waiver, without the State providing affirmative evidence of a knowing, voluntary and intelligent waiver. *Sweet*, 90 Wn.2d at 286. What precisely constitutes sufficient evidence of affirmative evidence to support waiver must be considered in light of the unequivocal constitutional right to appeal. *Kells*, 134 Wn.2dd at 314. The question is further complicated when considering a juvenile with limited neurocognitive development. *State v. Houston-Sconiers*, 188 Wn.2d 1, 23, 391 P.3d 409 (2017) (citing *Miller v.*

Alabama, 567 U.S. 460, 132 S. Ct. 2455, 2468, 183 L. Ed. 2d 407 (2012)).

Kells should control the outcome of D.G.A.'s case, despite some differences because both involved juveniles. In *Kells*, the Court of Appeals dismissed the appeal as untimely. The Supreme Court reversed and reinstated the appeal. *Kells*, 134 Wn.2d at 315. In *Kells*, a juvenile signed a guilty plea, waiving his right to appeal the adjudication of guilt. *Kells*, 134 Wn.2d at 312. The trial court did not inform the juvenile that he had the right to appeal the order of declination. *Kells*, 134 Wn.2d at 312. Defense counsel admitted he failed to advise his client he could appeal the decline because "he had been unaware" of the relevant law at the time. *Kells*, 134 Wn.2d at 312.

This Court held that because the declination decision "is a necessary prerequisite to the criminal conviction of a juvenile," the State must demonstrate a voluntary,

knowing, and intelligent waiver of the right to appeal. *Kells*, 134 Wn.2d at 314.

Here, like in *Kells*, the trial court did not inform D.G.A. he had the right to “a limited right to appeal collateral questions such as the validity of the statute, sufficiency of the information, and an understanding of the nature of the offense.” *Cater*, 186 Wn. App. at 392. At best, this language present confusion as to what can be appealed. See *State v. Light-Roth*, 8 Wn. App. 2d 1061, 2019 WL 1989619 (May 6, 2019)¹ (defendant was not properly notified of his appellate rights). In D.G.A.’s case his plea form and advisement form similarly failed to accurately advise him of his appellate rights, and likewise created the potential for confusion. While he did not file a declaration, this factor should not be dispositive, because under *Sweet*, and *Kells*, the State bears the burden of establishing a knowing, voluntary and intelligent waiver. To presume a

¹ Cited in accordance with WA GR 14.1.

juvenile made such a waiver is inconsistent with Art. 1 sec. 22, and this Court's understanding of juvenile brain development. *Houston-Sconiers*, 188 Wn.2d 1, 391 P.3d 409 (2017).

Additionally, this Court has already determined that attorney Anderson operated under an impermissible county contract. *State v. A.N.J.*, 168 Wn.2d 91, 225 P.3d 956 (2010).

Division Three erred when it determined that an appeal—a juvenile conviction—can be dismissed as untimely even though the record does not demonstrate a knowing, intelligent, and voluntary waiver of the right to appeal. This Court must accept review to correct this error.

- b. Division Three's use of *Smith* and *Cater* conflict with this Court's opinions and creates impermissible presumptions of waiver of constitutional rights.

Division Three resolves D.G.A.'s case by relying on *Smith* and *Cater* stating that a strong presumption is created where the defendant's guilty plea is facially valid.

OP at 7². The Court's reliance on those cases is misplaced and its holding is in error because the presumption the Court relies on can only be used in certain contexts which are not present in D.G.A.'s case. More specifically, the underpinnings of *Smith* and *Cater* are a line of cases establishing presumptions in cases in which the State is attempting to use the prior conviction in a new, independent proceeding. *State v. Warriner*, 100 Wn.2d 459, 460, 670 P.2d 636 (1983); *Parke v. Raley*, 506 U.S. 20, 24, 113 S. Ct. 517, 121 L. Ed. 2d 391 (1992).

As an initial matter, *Smith*, and the case underlying it, *State v. Johnson*, 104 Wn.2d 338, 705 P.2d 773 (1985), turn on what issues can be raised on appeal, not whether the defendant can bring an appeal. *Johnson*, 104 Wn.2d at 341.

² Division Three recently issued an amended opinion in *State v. Sanchez Lujano*, No. 38516-7-III, addressing similar issues and relying on nearly identical case law. *Sanchez Lujano* is now pending before this Court. *State v. Sanchez Lujano*, Supreme Court No. 1019653.

Nonetheless, the rebuttal presumptions discussed in *Cater*, and relied on by Division Three in D.G.A.'s case, were first recognized in *Parke*. In *Parke*, the United States Supreme Court clarified the rules and presumptions that are permissible when the State relies on a previous conviction in a persistent offender case. *Parke*, 506 U.S. at 24. *Parke* established that there are different rules and presumptions whether the appeal is on direct review, collateral attack, or a challenge to the use of a prior conviction. *Parke*, 506 U.S. at 29-30.

In *Parke*, Kentucky sought to sentence Raley under the persistent offender statute when Raley argued at a motion hearing his prior convictions needed to be suppressed under *Boykin* “because the records did not contain transcripts of the plea proceedings and hence did not affirmatively show that respondent’s guilty pleas were knowing and voluntary.” *Parke*, 506 U.S. at 23. The Supreme Court affirmed a burden shifting mechanism in

these limited situations in which, if there is some evidence to suggest regularity than regularity can be presumed until the defendant sufficiently rebuts that presumption. *Parke*, 506 U.S. 30-13.

Similarly, in *Cater*, the defendant was charged with first degree arson in 1979. *Cater*, 186 Wn. App. at 386. *Cater* acknowledged in a “Statement of Defendant on Plea of Guilty” that “he was pleading guilty” as “charged in the information, a copy of which I have received” *Cater*, 186 Wn. App. at 386-87. Further, “The Statement of Defendant on Plea of Guilty states that by entering a plea of guilty, *Cater* agreed to waive a number of rights, including the right to appeal ‘any finding of guilty and the sentence.’” *Cater*, 186 Wn. App. at 387.

³ A recent unpublished decision from Division Three notes this burden shifting scheme and how it is used and/or applied in Washington State. *State v. Sleeper*, 21 Wn. App. 2d 1053, 2022 WL 111796 (April 14, 2022).

In 1989, Cater was convicted of other crimes. *Cater*, 186 Wn. App. at 388. At sentencing, Cater acknowledged his 1979 conviction as a point for sentencing purposes. *Id.* The 1989 conviction was appealed and the Court of Appeals affirmed. *Cater*, 186 Wn. App. at 389-90.

Then, in 2013 Cater was charged with Second Degree Assault. *Cater*, 186 Wn. App. at 390. The State pursued the case as a third strike under the persistent offender statute. *Id.* Defense counsel immediately moved to enlarge time to file a notice of appeal with regard to the 1979 conviction. Division One after examining most of the cases discussed in this petition including *Kells*, *Sweet*, *Tomal*, and *Smith*, reasoned that several factors existed demonstrating Cater waived his limited right to appeal:

The unique circumstances, including the presumption of a voluntary plea, the exceptionally favorable plea agreement, the unexplained 34-year-delay in filing a notice of appeal, and Cater's complete failure to assert any facts suggesting he was unaware of his limited right to appeal, support the strong

inference that he knowingly, intelligently, and voluntarily waived his limited right to appeal following a guilty plea

Cater, 186 Wn. App. at 397.

Parke and *Cater* are nearly identical in their procedural posture. In both cases the defendants' challenge was a collateral attack, not a direct appeal. *Parke*, 506 U.S. at 29-30; *Cater*, 186 Wn. App. at 390. Neither Division One, in *Cater*, nor Division Three, in D.G.A.'s case, acknowledged the procedural differences. This is why Division Three's reliance on *Cater*, is misplaced.

In contrast to *Parke* and *Cater*, D.G.A.'s challenge is to the conviction itself—a direct appeal—not a challenge in a new independent proceeding, therefore no presumption applies. *Kells*, 134 Wn.2d at 314. Allowing the use of the Smith/*Cater* presumption would relieve the State of its burden demonstrating knowing, intelligent, and voluntary waiver. *Id.* Moreover, allowing the Smith/*Cater*

presumption to continue in this context would blur the lines of when a presumption applies and when the presumption does not apply.

Under RAP 13.4(b), this Court must accept review because Division Three's opinion cannot be reconciled with this Court's holdings that there is no presumption of waiver and thereby relieving the State of its burden proving D.G.A. knowingly, intelligently, and voluntarily waived his right to appeal.

//

//

//

//

//

//

//

//

//

F. CONCLUSION

D.G.A. asks this Court to accept review under RAP 13.4(b)(1), (3), and (4). Division Three's opinion cannot be reconciled under any of this Court's prior cases. Further, Division Three's opinion introduces a new presumption, on direct appeal, that this Court has determined are impermissible.