FILED
SUPREME COURT
STATE OF WASHINGTON
6/28/2023 11:37 AM
BY ERIN L. LENNON
CLERK

No. 102033-3
Court of Appeals No. 38324-5-III

IN THE SUPREME COURT
OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON

STATE OF WASHINGTON,

RESPONDENT,

v.

D.G.A.

PETITIONER.

RESPONSE TO PETITION FOR REVIEW

KEVIN J. McCRAE
Prosecuting Attorney
WSBA #43087

PO BOX 37
EPHRATA WA 98823
(509)754-2011

A. IDENTITY OF RESPONDENT

The State of Washington asks this court to deny review of the Court of Appeals decision terminating review designated in the defendant's petition.

B. COURT OF APPEALS DECISION

The decision dismissing the appeal as untimely.

C. ISSUES PRESENTED FOR REVIEW

1. Which party has the burden to raise a potential constitutional violation?

2. Did D.G.A. sufficiently assert that his right to appeal was violated by RAP 18.8(b)

D. STATEMENT OF THE CASE

D.G.A. is a frequent and vexatious litigant. He has participated, either as a plaintiff or defendant, in at least 40 cases in the Superior Court, 16 notices of appeal and 26 personal restraint petitions in the Court of Appeals, as well as 14 petitions for review of various types in the State Supreme Court. Motion to Modify Ex. A att 1, 2, and 3. D.G.A. is not a

bumbling amateur, just flailing around and filing things.

Instead, he has shown an understanding of sophisticated legal concepts and rules. Motion to Modify Ex. A att 4. He has filed numerous notices of appeal, both represented and pro se over the decades, including an untimely pro se appeal in 2014.

Motion to Modify Ex. B. In the month prior to filing this case he had filed a motion seeking relief from the time limit to appeal based on the failure to notify him of his rights to appeal, yet he did not assert that basis in this case. Motion to Modify Ex C.

D.G.A. filed a notice of appeal on July 15, 2021, more than 20 years after the judgment and sentence was entered in these cases. In keeping with normal practice, the Court placed the matter on the commissioner's docket for dismissal as an untimely appeal. Motion to Modify Ex D. D.G.A. was to respond by August 25, 2021, with the State filing a memorandum by September 1, 2021. D.G.A. did not file any memorandum, so the State did not respond. The Commissioner

then scoured the record, found an error, then applied the rule that the State had the burden to essentially prove the error harmless, without notifying the State of the error or requesting further briefing. The Commissioner then found the appeal exempt from RAP 18.8(b) and granted extraordinary relief sua sponte, without notice or opportunity to be heard from either party. Motion to Modify Ex E.

The State filed a motion to modify the Commissioner's ruling. The Court of Appeals deferred the motion to the merits, and ultimately granted it, dismissing the appeal as untimely.

E. ARGUMENT WHY REVIEW SHOULD BE DENIED

1. There is a presumption of regularity and compliance with Constitutional Commands. While that presumption is not hard to overcome, D.G.A. did not provide anything to rebut it.

The Court of Appeals was correct. There is a presumption, in force after every guilty plea and after every trial, that the defendant either waived his right to appeal or exercised it with the 30 days allotted. This presumption

necessarily flows from the principle that appellate courts assume regularity in trial court proceedings, and will not presume error or search the record for it. *Tremlin v. Tremlin*, 59 Wn.2d 140, 141, 367 P.2d 150, 151 (1961). “It is not the function or duty of this court to search the record for errors, but only to rule on the errors specifically alleged.” *Smith v. Breen*, 26 Wn. App. 802, 803, 614 P.2d 671, 673 (1980). “Further, even though Meneses is not required to cite to the record or authority in his SAG, he must still inform the court of the nature and occurrence of the alleged errors, and this court is not required to search the record to find support for the defendant's claims.” *State v. Meneses*, 149 Wn. App. 707, 716, 205 P.3d 916, 920 (2009), *as amended* (Apr. 13, 2009), *aff'd in part*, 169 Wn.2d 586, 238 P.3d 495 (2010).

CrR 7.2 requires the Court to inform the defendant of his right to appeal, both after a guilty plea or a trial. Thus in a regularly conducted plea the defendant is aware of his right to appeal, and may choose to exercise it or not. Thus there is a

presumption in a voluntary guilty plea that the defendant is waiving his right to appeal, unless he files the appeal within 30 days. This presumption is not particularly hard to overcome. All it takes is an allegation, backed up by some reason, either in or out of the record, that the defendant did not voluntarily waive his right to appeal. Once that occurs the burden shifts to the State to show a knowing, intelligent and voluntary waiver.

The right to appeal is treated the same as other rights. *State v. Sweet*, 90 Wn.2d 282, 287, 581 P.2d 579 (1978). For any right the defendant has to assert the right was violated. Then the State can present evidence or argument that it was not. For example, the defendant is responsible for raising the issue of self-defense. Once he does the burden shifts to the State to disprove self-defense beyond a reasonable doubt. The defendant has the burden of production, the State has the burden of persuasion. *State v. Graves*, 97 Wn. App. 55, 61, 982 P.2d 627, 630 (1999). CrR 3.6 requires the defendant to raise the issue that a search or seizure right was violated. A

defendant wanting to raise the issue of the constitutional right to confrontation must assert that right. *State v. Burns*, 193 Wn.2d 190, 206, 438 P.3d 1183, 1190 (2019). Requiring a defendant to raise the right at issue and give a basis of why or how the right was violated is the way all courts work.

Here RAP 18.8 (b) says that a notice of appeal is untimely and any appeal after filed after 30 days must be dismissed. RAP 18.8(b) may be unconstitutional as applied in certain cases, such as if the defendant did not knowingly, intelligently and voluntarily waive his right to appeal in a criminal case. But statutes and court rules are presumed constitutional. *State v. Waldon*, 148 Wn. App. 952, 962, 202 P.3d 325, 331 (2009). Therefore the burden is on the party seeking to avoid the court rule to allege it is unconstitutional as applied to them. Then the burden may well be on the State to show that it is not, via waiver or some other means. As the Court of Appeals held, a guilty plea does create a waiver of the right to appeal. The defendant's burden may not be a high

hurdle to overcome, but he does at least have to allege a violation of the constitutional right and provide some evidence to overcome the presumption that the trial court did not commit error.

Here D.G.A. did not do that. He did not even allege he was unaware of his right to appeal, or that his lack of knowledge caused a delay. Here D.G.A. did not make any assertion. Instead, the Commissioner searched the record and found evidence that might support that assertion if made. However, D.G.A. did not provide a reason that RAP 18.8(b) was unconstitutional as to him, or that the presumption of regularity that an appellate court engages in was overcome. The Court of Appeals was correct in ruling that there is a presumption in a voluntary plea where no timely appeal was taken that the right was waived. The burden to overcome that presumption may be small, but D.G.A. did not meet it.

2. Alternative means of affirmance.

Even if the Supreme Court disagrees with the Court of Appeals reasoning the outcome is correct, D.G.A.'s appeal should be denied as untimely. Thus this case is a poor vehicle to address these issues.

a. The Commissioner violated RAP 12.1.

The Commissioner searched the record and found an error and decided the motion on that basis without notifying the parties. The Court initially stated “subject to RAP 12.1(b), the rule requires courts to decide cases on the basis of the issues briefed by the parties. RAP 12.1(b) provides: “If the appellate court concludes that an issue which is not set forth in the briefs should be considered to properly decide a case, the court may notify the parties and give them an opportunity to present written argument on the issue raised by the court.” The Court then held that “By its clear terms, the rule applies to cases, not motions.” *State v. D.G.A.*, 525 P.3d 995, 998 (Wash. Ct. App. 2023). This holding is illogical. A motion is not something separate and distinct from a case. A motion is a procedural

mechanism by which a party raises an issue in a case. An issue raised in a motion may be dispositive of a case. Here the Commissioner violated RAP 12.1 when she decided this issue on a basis not briefed by the parties. Because D.G.A. did not raise the lack of voluntariness of his waiver in a brief, the Court of Appeals should not have decided the issue on that basis without at least notifying the parties. This violation of RAP 12.1 represents an alternative means of affirmance.

b. D.G.A. was aware of his right to appeal, and did not appeal.

While not addressed by the Court of Appeals, the State did meet its burden under *Sweet* to show that D.G.A. was aware of his right to appeal and chose not to. Had D.G.A. raised an argument that he did not knowingly, intelligently and voluntarily waived his right to appeal, and thus was entitled to extraordinary relief, the State could have easily shown he had been well aware of his right to appeal for decades prior to this notice of appeal.

The Commissioner contended that he was not advised of his rights to appeal and collateral attack, and therefore he has the right to file this untimely appeal. But the issue is not whether he was informed of his rights by the trial court at the time of sentencing, but rather whether the State can establish the defendant knowingly, intelligently and voluntarily waived his right to appeal. *State v. Sweet*, 90 Wn.2d 282, 286, 581 P.2d 579, 581 (1978). While the Court's notification of rights is relevant to that issue, the failure to do so is not dispositive. "Waiver is the intentional relinquishment or abandonment of a known right or privilege." *Id.* D.G.A. clearly had knowledge of his rights to appeal and collateral attack as evidenced by the multitude of appeals and collateral attacks he filed.

D.G.A. clearly had knowledge of his ability to challenge the voluntariness of his waiver. He filed just such an argument in Grant County Superior Court on August 17, 2021, and could have easily filed such in this case, but chose not to. He has filed over a dozen notices of appeal in the last two decades in

various cases, some pro se and some via counsel. He was clearly aware of his right to appeal years ago but choose not to exercise it until recently. He even filed an untimely pro se appeal in another case in 2014, but did not appeal this case at the same time, even though he was clearly aware he had the right to. This constitutes a waiver.

Appellate Courts presume regularity in lower court proceedings. It is up to a party to allege an irregularity, at which point the burden of proof depends on the issue. There are good reasons for this, as it allows all the parties to be on the same page and present their cases. The Commissioner erred by scouring the record and developing a theory for extraordinary relief when no party raised the issue. The Commissioner further erred by not notifying the parties of the potential error she found. The Commissioner confused the burden of persuasion with the burden of production. D.G.A. had the burden to raise an issue that would show that he was entitled to extraordinary relief. He did not meet that burden. The fact that

the State would then have had the burden of persuasion in showing that he was not entitled to extraordinary relief has no bearing on that fact. If the issue had been properly raised the State would have met its burden of persuasion. The Commissioner's ruling should be reversed, and the appeal dismissed as untimely.

3. Even if D.G.A. has the right to this untimely appeal the State prevails on the doctrine of laches and the merits of the ineffective assistance of counsel claim.

The Court of Appeals did not reach these issues, but for the reasons stated in the State's Response Brief in the Court of Appeals, the State prevails on these other issues.

F. CONCLUSION